Minutes WEST LIBERTY STATE COLLEGE BOARD OF GOVERNORS Monday, December 11, 2006

ATTENDANCE:

Board Members: Mary Blair, Clyde Campbell, Al de Jaager, Lynne Exley, Dan Joseph, Roseanna Keller, Larry

Miller, John Moore, Will Turani, Bernie Twigg, Aaron Wilkinson

Unable to Attend: Dan Greathouse

Administration/Faculty/Staff: J. D. Carpenter, Mallory Clegg, Matthew Cottle, John L. Davis, Pete Fernbaugh, Patrick Henry,

Donna Lukich, John McCullough, Barb Neuman, Marcella Snyder, Jim Watson, Ron Witt

1. Call to Order:

Mr. Moore called the meeting to order at 5:45 p.m. and asked if there were any changes or corrections to the minutes.

2. Approval of Minutes*:

Full Board Executive Committee

10/18/06 None

ACTION ITEM I:

A motion to approve the minutes of the full Board of October 18, 2006 was then made by Bernie Twigg and seconded by Larry Miller; motion passed unanimously.

3. **President's Report:**

Dr. McCullough thanked the Board members who participated in commencement Saturday, having received many comments from parents on the fact that members were in attendance. Dr. McCullough continued with a statement, regarding Mayor Nick Sparachane and comments he made during his address. These comments were not interpreted as he intended, and the Mayor has issued an apology to all faculty via e-mail. The interpretation was not at all as he intended and the Mayor expressed his great regarding this reaction. He is willing to meet with anyone on campus if further discussion is needed. Mr. Sparachane could not have been more apologetic.

Saturday's graduating class was small, and we will have smaller graduating classes for the next several years due to previous declining enrollment. This has begun to turn around thanks to the good work of everyone and their involvement with recruiting and retention efforts. Second semester positive numbers will be given later in the meeting from J.D. These numbers are much different from a year ago.

The Chancellor returned to campus on November 29 and met with various executive committees and councils. These meetings were very productive. We also received a fine statement from the Chancellor, saying he has returned to other campuses to look at issues and problems, but our return visit was for input and advice. He was very appreciative for this. The Chancellor said the proposed agenda for the upcoming legislative session was very simple and based on three critical items: (1) need-based financial aid fully funded, (2) institutional operating budgets receive a 5% increase to the base budget, and (3) funding academic research for \$15 million statewide, most of which would go to WVU and Marshall, and the remainder to the other four-year institutions. This would include basic research, not just academic. He would like to revise the statewide master plan (the non-facilities master plan) and update and revise the institutional compact. The Chancellor will try to return to campus sometime in the spring or summer.

The Media Arts Center open house was held November 10, and thanks go to Tammi Secrist on a great job, and also to Al de Jaager, Jeff Turner, BIC, and all involved. This is a facility to be proud of with cutting-edge equipment, making it a powerful addition to the campus.

The "Legislative Update" was held at Wheeling Island Racetrack and Gaming Center on November 20. This is a reception held annually prior to the legislative session to update the Northern Panhandle Delegation on what's happening at WLSC. This also allows us to find out how we can assist the delegates and what they can do for West Liberty.

The Strategic Planning Session was held November 21 for the first time in three years to gather input and ideas to update the Strategic Plan. There was campus-wide representation at this meeting and a good day with a lot of solid, realistic ideas. We will be reaffirming sections and revising others from the past to give us a document with which to move forward. This information will be circulated to everyone and is in the process of being summarized.

Tomorrow is the Enrollment Planning Retreat to update the Enrollment Management Plan. Scott Cook, J. D. Carpenter, and Brenda King played key roles in this Plan last year, and the Plan is the main element in our enrollment increase. Tomorrow's session is to fine tune and update this document with campus-wide participation.

A holiday reception was held last Thursday at Liberty Oaks. We had a great turn out, and it was a pleasant day for some holiday commradory. Thanks go to Ron Witt and the Alumni Association for providing the funding for this event for the second year in a row.

Dr. McCullough has a meeting in Charleston on Friday with regard to our university status. If approved by the reviewing staff, this item could be on the HEPC agenda in February as an action item. Later this evening we will review an enabling type of authority for this next step, which is a culmination of over two years work. West Liberty has done its due diligence in the review of this action and is in a position to move forward in pursuit of a final decision from the HEPC. Work has already begun on developing specific marketing plans for that time in which university status is approved. We believe this time frame will be less than the three to four years that had previously been anticipated.

4. HEPC and Legislative Update (www.hepc.wvnet.edu):

At the recent HEPC meeting, the Metro Rate was unanimously approved, allowing for \$2,000 discount to yearly tuition and fees in Belmont and Jefferson Counties in Ohio, and Washington and Allegheny Counties in Pennsylvania. In the draft budget from Pat Henry you will see a deficit element which is the worse-case scenario of not getting one additional student via the Metro Rate. The Metro Rate should be a positive driver for our enrollment from the four out-of-state counties.

Lynne Exley spoke with regard to the Chancellor's visit. She met with the Chancellor one-on-one for a half hour and had a wonderful conversation. It was sad nobody else showed up, but great to get to speak with him. There were two things he would like to suggest to the Board: (1) with regard to the search for a new president, that we determine salary ranges before the candidates get into a discussion on this, and (2) on the university status, look long and hard at degrees offered and be very practical in the approval of masters programs and be careful in determining what kind of education we will provide at that level.

Dr. McCullough stated that very deliberate planning and needs analysis will precede the offering of any graduate programs.

5. Academic Affairs:

Dr. Lukich reported the HLC/NCA working groups continue to collect data for the self-study on the upcoming accreditation visit next year.

Nursing hosted their accreditation site visit team on November 6-8 and they were reported as meeting all standards. A final decision will reach us in May 2007. Dr. Lukich thanked everyone for helping to make the visit very effective.

Professor Al de Jaager is currently writing the self-study for Music, which is preparing for a spring visit.

Open faculty positions at this time are three in Professional Education, two in Mathematics, one in Political Science, and one in Social Sciences. Nick Baker will be retiring after 36 years from the Mathematics area and Rich Lizza with 23 years from the Social Sciences. David Javersak, Dean of Liberal Arts, will be retiring in the spring after 38 years.

Beta Hall plans are evolving as we try to find funding to complete the necessary renovations for AY 2007-08.

The Multicultural Committee received a grant from the HEPC to fund activities this year, totaling nearly \$8,000.

6. **Enrollment Update:**

Dr. Carpenter stated that they are finishing up with the traditional fall recruiting season. The next job becomes turning the leads and prospects into applicants and registered students. This will be the focus we take on in the spring, along with follow-up visits to high schools and additional visits and programs on the calendar. Tomorrow is the Enrollment Management Planning Retreat which will run all day, involving all of the constituent groups on campus. We believe the growth in this last year were of consequence from the Plan done last year and the campus coming together to implement this plan.

The Fall 2007 markers were fall visitation days, along with black and gold days. We had 30 students for the first black and gold day in September, 50 in November, and a record setting 316 students (535 with mom, dad, and others) attending open house on November 11. This was the largest open house in years. To date we have about 400 students who have attended a formal program on campus, not counting walk-in traffic. Admissions was busy again today with appointments and walk-in traffic.

We are working on setting up more non-traditional visits with local high schools. A recent visit set-up with Wheeling Park will be the model for a first time program at John Marshall in the future.

We will not start tracking Fall 2007 applications until January, but the traffic that we are seeing would indicate that we would again see good news as we move toward next fall. Again, Dr. Carpenter is being cautiously optimistic. January 2006 showed a 20% increase in applications over January of 2005. To match this would be a positive as we continue to move in this direction. For the Spring 2007 semester, as of last Friday, we are up 143 students over January of last year and are tracking at a pace that we did not hit until January 5 of spring last year. College at the Park has been expanded two semesters so that does account for a certain amount of that growth, but only 50 to 60 students, which would mean traditional enrollment is up between 80 and 90 students. If we sustain at 125 students overall, it would mean that we would be in a position to track around 2,100 for the spring, a 6% increase over January last year, 4% if not counting College at the Park. Residence halls will be opening with a population of 980, which would be the same as what we opened with in the fall of 2005.

Bernie Twigg asked, with the passage of the bond issue in Marshall County and the expansion at John Marshall, will we be offering college courses at John Marshall and are we on top of this? J.D. stated that a meeting has been scheduled for January 10th with the folks at John Marshall and our goal is to do something very similar to what is being done at Wheeling Park.

Aaron Wilkinson asked how retention numbers look. J.D. stated that it is too early to tell for the fall, but if you consider we are up 35 students for the fall, and up 80 to 90 for the spring, whether counting College at the Park or not, it's a safe bet that the increase is going to be the retention of students.

Roseanna Keller stated that this is great news and congratulated Dr. Carpenter and the whole West Liberty team and the campus for their work on this issue. We need to keep going in this direction.

Mr. Moore stated that many in this room would echo those same comments. We have gotten to this point with a lot of cooperation and hard work. Don't lose sight of that; there are lots of accolades to be shared, but it has been a true team effort. To be successful it has to continue at the team effort level.

Dr. Carpenter stated that keeping the Enrollment Management Plan on the front burner, with accountability for each area, keeps us talking about enrollment.

7. Institutional Advancement Update:

Mr. Cottle distributed a chart which shows where we stand with the Capital Campaign. We continue to track at the line and well above the trend line, which would put us at \$15 million on June 30 of 2007. What worries him is that the slope of the line is not such as it would at least hit or exceed yellow when we get to June 30, and that is something we have to deal with. He pointed out that the key people on board in the Development Office when the Campaign started, all left within about a seven month period, and now have almost an entirely new crew on board. He remains competent that we will see an upward tilt in that line. Various donors and bequests are close in our favor, and things are happening that should enable a positive outcome.

Organizationally, we are trying to rebuild staff. Erin Neely, Director of Annual Giving, has been hired at Belmont Tech. This is a wonderful opportunity for her and we're happy for Erin, but we now need to fill this position. Erin had this fund headed in the right direction, with last year being the first year in the last five that the annual fund actually posted a gain from one year to the next. Erin is leaving us on the up tick, on course for \$91,000 as opposed to \$82,000 last year.

With the Campaign coming to an end, bequests and other opportunities such as the annual fund, are areas where we need to grow. If Board members know of a good young, dynamic writer to take over the phone-a-thon, let Matthew know.

8. **Budget and Finance:**

Mr. Henry directed the Board to the Interim Financial Statement in their packets. As of September 30th areas look to be in line. We did have a one-time expense come in this year and they are supplies and other services for projects needing completed and equipment for the Media Arts Center and the capital that goes along with these expenses. The budget is on track and we are comfortable with the numbers. This does not reflect the spring semester, and we will have a better picture of that at the end of the month.

The budget for FY 2007 will be adjusted as of next semester when we have more information. As of December 1 invoices had not gone out so there is nothing reflected for next semester.

The bond covenants are in-line and payment has been made. Money was allocated as of November 25 and adjustments have been made. We are currently at 52.5% revenue and 44.3% expenditures and in compliance on bond covenants.

On the draft budget for FY 2008, the grey areas showing still do not have confirmation on where they will fall, and the current negative balance is \$20,842. As work progresses this will be brought to a balanced budget. The Chancellor is working toward a state funding increase of 5%, and we will work through the shaded areas as the legislative session progresses. The Winan's cleaning service and Sodexho food service contracts will be negotiated in April.

Mr. Wilkinson asked if both the Winan's and the Sodexho contracts are up. Mr. Davis stated that Sodexho is not up and Winan's is up, but with a one year option. Mr. Wilkinson then asked who negotiates these contracts, to which Mr. Davis stated that he, Pat Henry, and Ed Stewart work together on the contracts. Of the seven or eight auxiliary type service contracts West Liberty has, these are two of the three largest. Mr. Davis and Mr. Henry work on all of the renewals, consult with each other on any rebids, and Mr. Stewart, with his 20 some years of purchasing experience with the College, handles paperwork for both.

Mr. Wilkinson then asked if Housing or anyone in the academic buildings are involved in looking at the cleaning service contracts. Mr. Davis stated that in the distant pass, with contracts such as the bookstore, Dr. Carpenter's predecessor joined in this process.

Mr. Wilkinson noted the tuition and board increase, even with the possibility of a 5% increase in the state funding. Even though we may be getting more money in the budget we're going to raise both? Are we ever going to stop increasing tuition and room and board? Mr. Moore stated that there are different expenses that the College will still need to offset with these increases. Utilities continue to increase, along with deferred maintenance of buildings and equipment on campus. Dr. McCullough stated there are two things that may mean no increases in tuition and room and board. One would be deflation and fixed costs on utilities, and the other would be an absolute explosion in terms of enrollment in which student numbers were so great we had excess money coming in to the College.

Mr. Moore stated that we are getting more students and more money, but expenses are also rising, fuel costs and other utilities continue to go up. You also need to remember that we have deferred maintenance items on the books. We need to continue to build funds to maintain what we have. Ms. Blair asked what the maximum percentage is that we can increase tuition. Mr. Henry stated 9% or 7.5% over three years. Historically we have been very conservative in our increases compared to other institutions. Mr. Wilkinson again stated he strongly urged Mr. Davis to consult others on the Winan's contract.

Mr. de Jaager would like to speak to the same point. When the food service contract came up there was very competitive bidding with people coming on campus, food sampling, etc. With regard to the cleaning service, he wasn't sure that we are getting feed back from those who deal with this issue on a daily basis. Is there some way, if there are concerns, to bring these to someone to factor into the consideration being made? Mr. Davis stated that the custodial bid will be out in a year from now, and will take this under advisement. He did want to be clear that when the cleaning service bid was put out to bid initially in 2002, Mr. Mike Turbanic, Davis, and two others, considered nine companies who submitted bids, not one or two bidders.

Mr. Turani stated that the increase would amount to \$91.00 per semester with tuition being raised \$64 and room and board \$27. We do not anticipate the \$388,000 worse case scenario amount on the metro fee, but it does need to be taken into account. This is a draft budget; it will change. Mr. Turani asked if there were any questions. Mr. Moore asked why there is a 2% for Winan's and Sodexho. Mr. Davis stated this number has been built in and has been done for the last two or three years. The Sodexho contract does call for an increase in 2008, but it is not automatic. Last Wednesday Mr. Henry and Mr. Davis met and reviewed Winan's contract and this \$14,000 was going to be taken out but it was too late to remove from the Board packets.

Mr. Henry stated that the budget will be changing each time it is brought to the Board until we have solid numbers. The budget will probably be ready to present for approval in April. At this point there are still a lot of variables.

9. **Honorary Degree*:**

Per WLSC Policy 238, "Guidelines for Honorary Degrees and Recognition," the Honorary Degrees and Recognition Committee met to review the nomination of Nick A. Sparachane, to receive an honorary degree of Doctor of Humane Letters (DHL) from West Liberty State College. Mr. Sparachane has been invited to be the featured speaker at the December 2006, commencement. The Board is asked to approve this nomination.

ACTION ITEM II:

A motion to approve the recommendation of the Honorary Degrees and Recognition Committee and the President of the College, the West Liberty State College Board of Governors authorizes the conferral of an honorary Doctor of Humane Letters (DHL) degree from West Liberty State College at the December 2006 commencement to Nick A. Sparachane. A motion to approve was made by Bernie Twigg and seconded by Roseanna Keller; motion passed unanimously.

10. University Status*:

Based on the latest data submitted to the staff of the West Virginia Higher Education Policy Commission (HEPC), the administration of West Liberty State College believes that the College has fulfilled the criteria established by the HEPC for "University Status." This resolution provides authorization for the administration to fully pursue all appropriate steps with the HEPC and, if necessary, the West Virginia Legislature, in order to establish University Status for West Liberty State College.

ACTION ITEM III:

A motion to approve West Liberty State College Board of Governors authorizing the administration to pursue all appropriate steps with the HEPC and, if necessary, the West Virginia Legislature, to obtain University Status for the College was then made by Bernie Twigg and seconded by Al de Jaager.

11. WLSC Policies*:

At the August 30, 2006 meeting, the Board of Governors approved the dissemination of the listed policies. Comments received by the close of the 30-day comment period are as follows:

- No. 2 Protocol for Submitting or Revising Policy Change Human Resources Administrator in body of policy to "Director of Human Resources"
- No. 30 Workers' Compensation Change Workers' Compensation in body of policy to "Brickstreet, Inc."
- No. 110 Sick Leave Change Workers' Compensation in body of policy to "Brickstreet, Inc."

The Board of Governors is asked to approve these policies with the above noted changes.

Proposed Resolution: Resolved, that the West Liberty State College Board of Governors approves the following policies:

Board of Governors Policies:

- No. 23 (former No. 2) Protocol for Submitting or Revising Policy
- No. 24 (former No. 3) Terms and Other Definitions
- No. 25 (former No. 4) Definition of Faculty, Administration, and Staff
- No. 26 (former No. 6) Order of Precedence
- No. 27 (former No. 7) Order of Responsibility
- No. 28 (former No. 8) Social Justice
- No. 29 (former No. 9) Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity and Non-Discrimination
- No. 30 (former No. 10) Americans with Disabilities Act
- No. 31 (former No. 11) HIV/AIDS Infection
- No. 32 (former No. 12) Sexual Harassment and Other Unlawful Discrimination
- No. 33 (former No. 13) Drug-Free Workplace
- No. 34 (former No. 14) Nepotism Employment of Relatives
- No. 35 (former No. 18) National, State, and Local Elections
- No. 36 (former No. 19) Leave of Absence Without Pay
- No. 37 (former No. 20) Military Leave
- No. 38 (former No. 21) Witness and Jury Duty
- No. 39 (former No. 23) Group Insurance
- No. 40 (former No. 24) Social Security
- No. 41 (former No. 25) Retirement Benefits
- No. 42 (former No. 26) Unemployment Compensation
- No. 43 (former No. 27) Tuition Waiver
- No. 44 (former No. 30) Workers' Compensation
- No. 45 (former No. 31) Workplace Threats and Violence
- No. 46 (former No. 32) Use of College Property
- No. 47 (former No. 33) Tobacco Use and Guidelines
- No. 48 (former No. 34) Code of Ethics
- No. 49 (former No. 35) Computer Abuse
- No. 50 (former No. 36) Fund Raising Policy and Procedure
- No. 52 (former No. 42) Public Relations Representative
- No. 53 (former No. 44) Access to Personnel Files

College Policies:

- No. 100 Definitions of Full-Time and Part-Time Employees
- No. 106 Compensatory Time
- No. 107 Overtime
- No. 109 Annual Leave
- No. 110 Sick Leave
- No. 111 Catastrophic Leave
- No. 112 Holidays
- No. 116 (former No. 19A) Terminal Leave

ACTION ITEM IV:

A motion to approve Policy Nos. 23–50, 52, 53, 100, 106, 107, 109-112, and 116, along with any revisions, was then made by Larry miller and seconded by Bernie Twigg; motion passed. Mary Blair opposed.

12. Presidential Search Update:

Dr. Campbell stated that the committee, comprised of Board members and additional appointees, met for most of this afternoon screening applications. There are slightly in access of 60 high quality applicants. Initial interviews will be held in January, not on WLSC's campus, since the whole process is still in a state of confidentiality. After these interviews, those applicants invited to campus will be made public knowledge. The committee hopes this will occur in early spring and are still shooting for July 1 to install a new president. The appointment will be announced long before this date. The process is moving well and Dr. Campbell was contacted this week by a reporter from The State Journal, giving WLSC a little publicity. WVU and Shepherd are also seeking a president.

Dr. Campbell stated that he would be happy to respond to any questions. The search is moving along on schedule, is staying in line with the time table, and hope to continue this trend. Mr. Moore thanked Dr. Campbell for his leadership and work in this process.

13. I-70 Project Business Plan and Property Update:

Dr. Cook began with speaking first to the business plan of the I-70 Project. To refresh the Board's memory on the mechanics of the business plan, we have been working with a consultant in Indianapolis who has been involved with children's museums and written business plans throughout the United States. Dr. Cook has been acting as liaison with Paul Richard, taking Mr. Richard's information to the committee for review and getting their comments. The first lengthy draft of the business plan was received approximately three weeks ago. The committee met and went over the plan thoroughly and took it back to Mr. Richard to put in place. We should have this plan to present at the February Board meeting. The committee does not review this as an excellent plan, but has issues to be addressed. We need to support what is in that plan, its sustainability, and send it back until we are absolutely positive this business plan represents what is needed to make this facility financially functionable. We should expect an updated business plan soon and have the committee get together to look over.

Mr. Cottle stated that the I-70 Project was presented to the Northern Panhandle Legislative Delegation at the legislative update session at the Wheeling Island Racetrack and Gaming Center. This was a briefing for the new and returning Legislators. One thing we focused on are the concerns we share about the projected cost of the facility. When we had the presentation by WTW Architects in the summer, their projected cost was in the range of \$35 to \$50 million. Since then we have been meeting with other contractors in the area. A recent meeting was held with some people with the Ohio County Commission out at Applebee's at the Highlands. There are some very strict controls on what kind of building can be built at the Highlands, from the exterior appearance to the types of building materials. The site for this project is currently a layout yard for other projects. Through these various meetings we were able to lower the estimated cost of site and building work to the range of \$12 million. Exhibits would be in the range of \$6 million, with an overall total estimate of \$18 million. The earlier estimate was to build a building that would not be allowed on this site.

We continue to pursue our need to get various forms of funding for this project. Dr. Cook and Mr. Cottle have had successful conversations with those who would fund a teacher development grant around the facility. We are working on somebody to pay for the exhibits with a seven figure gift. We had an initial meeting with Governor Manchin and his staff, and are currently pursuing a letter of commitment promising \$1 million in State appropriations if we are successful in getting federal funds to pay for the building, and \$250,000 per year for the operating budget. If we can get these pieces together, we would be in a position to talk about federal funding. In speaking with Tammy Rapp, local representative for Congressman Mollohan, she has conferred with Washington and said very clearly what the congressman is willing to do. We would also involve Senator Byrd's staff in this conversation. There are also key Board and Foundation Board members interested in assisting with this project. Mr. Cottle was very optimistic that he would be going to Washington with a package of State and private commitments for one-third of the budget, and the federal to pay for the other two-thirds.

Mr. Twigg asked if there was an anticipated drop dead date on moving forward with this project. He is concerned West Liberty is traveling down a path, spending a lot of money, on something that there is no chance will come to fruition. Mr. Cottle admitted there is a great deal of time spent on this project, but it has tremendous benefits for the College. With regard to the land commitment, once we have the commitment, the project must begin within five years or we lose the property. We are not pushing for the land for this reason; we don't want the clock to start. Conversations in Charleston have also been very favorable. Mr. Twigg stated to the Board Chair, that with the hopes of only a 5% budget increase in the budget, and the hopes of more assistance from Charleston on this project, this is a lot of work and the end result is really far down the road. We need to have a financial statement to prove to the Board that this place could operate at breakeven. At some time the Board needs to give a thumb up or a thumb down on this project, or proof it can happen. Ms. Keller stated that she would like to see a business plan, and with the changing political arena, have a go or no go before the 2008 elections.

14. Update from Ad Hoc Committee on Proposed SGA Alcohol Policy:

Dr. Carpenter stated that at the last Board meeting, he was instructed to put together a subcommittee to examine the proposal put together by the SGA to allow limited alcohol on campus. The proposal is in conjunction with the anticipated opening of the first two floors of Beta Hall. These floors would be designated drinking areas for students of age who live on these floors. The subcommittee is comprised of J.D. Carpenter, Lynne Exley, Al de Jaager, Marcella Snyder, Joe Mills, Jim Compston, Karen Hamilton, Dawn McCroskey, Mallory Clegg, and Tommy Hostutler. Included

in the Board packet were copies of the old State College System series that addressed alcohol on state college campuses, as well as the current WLSC policy passed in 2002, and BOG policies from Shepherd University and Concord University. These are the only other two state institutions that do allow alcohol in the residence halls. Glenville is currently considering this move. Two consistent questions that came from the Board and constituent groups around campus were the risk and liability. In discussions with Concord and Shepherd, there is not a sense of strict liability. Because of the nature of the supervision that we will provide, rules and regulations will be held to a higher standard. The bottom line is that we do what we say we are going to do; due diligence in all that we do.

In checking with the Board of Risk, neither Concord nor Shepherd pay an additional premium. BRIM had no opinion on whether to allow alcohol in the residence halls. The State Alcohol Beverage Commission will not be involved because we are not selling the alcohol on campus. The idea of reopening the Pub was addressed and tossed around by several groups. The option of selling alcohol on campus is another ball game, and does expose us to greater liability. Feedback received on campus was from Faculty Senate, Classified Staff Council, Student Government, and the Alumni Board. All groups involved asked good questions with consistent themes of concern. SGA had a unanimous vote for the alcohol policy. Classified Staff Council did not vote, but had a negative response to the proposal. The Alumni Board did not vote, nor did they see the document, but had no negative comments once questions were answered. Faculty Senate voted no by a margin of 7 to 4, but wanted the subcommittee to know that some of the no votes were cast because they felt the policy was unenforceable, not necessarily because they were against alcohol on campus. Should the Board consider action on this item, we could work with the current policy No. 7 as it exists. After the third meeting, the subcommittee voted in favor of what Dr. Carpenter called the spirit of allowing a drinking area in the residential facilities. This is seen as (1) giving the option for students 21 or older to purchase and consume alcohol, (2) an opportunity to educate and promote educational opportunities to drinking in moderation, and (3) the opportunity to educate students about social responsibility.

The question was asked whether there are any state reports that show the relationship between college student's patterns and behaviors, such as with alcohol consumption, that show the effects of this behavior in GPA or any other measurable statistic. Dr. Carpenter stated that there is not such a report. He went on to remind the Board that similar campus conversations were held in 2004 before Curtis Hall opened as a coed dorm. People thought this dorm would be out of control and wouldn't be able to enforce visitation, but it did work with few behavioral issues and visitation violations.

Mr. Moore asked what the vote was on the alcohol proposal within the subcommittee. Dr. Carpenter stated that it was five to three in favor, with two abstentions. Mr. Moore then asked of the State colleges and universities, how many have policies which allow alcohol on campus and how many do not? Dr. Carpenter stated that there are two, Concord and Shepherd, who currently allow alcohol in the residence halls, seven do not. Mr. Wilkinson pointed out that Bluefield has no residence halls.

Mr. Twigg asked if directors and officers insurance coverage has been checked for the Board members and administrators of WLSC. If not, this needs checked before anything else is done with regard to this policy. This is insurance to protect the officers of the college. John Davis will check on this insurance. Mr. Twigg also stated he would be very interested in viewing the minutes of the subcommittee meetings. The Board should see all plans, statutes, policies, staffing, budget, and intended cost of this endeavor. We should also double check the liability issue as far as insurance is concerned. As with any time that an institution can be found negligent, if we have a specific policy and say we do not, we would be in trouble if we knew we violated a policy and made no effort to have that policy enforced.

Mr. Wilkinson asked to address staffing as covered in the original proposal. A brief discussion followed on the amount of staffing for the two floors of Beta. Mr. Wilkinson stated that this proposal can be altered. He also stated that he was confused on the passage of this proposal. To his knowledge, the proposal does not need to go to the Board. The president of the College can give approval on this matter. Mr. Moore stated that he would be fool hardy to believe the president would act on such a proposal without the Board's direct involvement and official approval or disapproval. Mr. Wilkinson also noted that of all the people that have discussed this proposal and have been talked with about the proposal, the SGA came up with the idea and has panned out every detail. Also, Faculty Senate broke the Sunshine Law by removing the Trumpet, SGA presenters, and Aaron from the room for a closed door vote on the proposal. If they're not held accountable, but weighed in on the proposal, what's the point? They've read the proposal, can contact those involved, and take into consideration what SGA is doing here. At this point Mr. Moore stated that Mr. Wilkinson was out of order.

Ms. Keller stated that she voiced her concern at the October meeting on how much input we had on this proposal from parents. There is nothing from the subcommittee on this point. How many parents actually pay tuition and room and board, but have no input before we support such a proposal. Most parents pay the bill. Lynne Exley stated that she was approached by a parent who knew she was on the Board. This parent asked that the Board please try and get the alcohol issue clarified, and this parent agreed students 21 or older should be able to have alcohol on campus. Ms. Exley further stated she is in total support of the proposal. She felt the SGA has jumped through all of the hoops that the Board has asked. They have approached the Board with sincerity and thoroughness, yet we always find a reason not to call for a vote. She also reminded the Board that if the proposal does not work, we pull the plug. This could be

an experiment if you want, but the students have worked with the students on this campus. They have done everything the Board has asked them to do.

Ms. Keller stated that she is worried about the trend we could set here and upset people. She also asked if parents of prospective students ask about alcohol on campus during their visits, to which Dr. Carpenter replied that alcohol is a very infrequent discussion with parents.

Mr. Moore asked for a five minute moratorium. He suggested the SGA proposal be put on the agenda for the February Board meeting as an action item. This would give appropriate time to consider all points of view, Board members to reconcile their own thoughts, and come to the February meeting and vote to ask the president whether to allow this alcohol proposal.

15.	Adjournment The meeting a	: djourned at 7:08 p.m.
	John Moore _	Chair
	Lynne Exley	Secretary